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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

SAN ANTONIO DIVISION 
 

LETISHA N. PATTERSON,  § 
  § 
  § 
 Plaintiff, § 
  §  
-v-  § Civil No. 5:13-cv-892 
  § 
HUGO A. ROJAS and   § 
HUGO A. ROJAS, M.D., PA d/b/a § 
FAMILY CLINICS OF SAN ANTONIO § 
  § 
 Defendants. §  
 
 

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT  
 
 
TO THE HONORABLE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE: 

 NOW COMES Letisha N. Patterson, and file this, her Plaintiff’s Original 

Petition. 

I. 
SUMMARY 

 
This is a simple failure to pay overtime case. Defendants employed the 

Plaintiff as a physician assistant.  For the past three years, Defendants have not 

paid her overtime pay as required by the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”). 

The Defendants paid the Plaintiff an hourly rate for each hour worked.  The 

Plaintiff would routinely work over forty hours in a workweek.  The Defendants 

routinely would pay the Plaintiff at her regular rate, instead of her overtime rate, 

for the hours over forty in a workweek.  The failure to pay the Plaintiff at one-and-
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one half times her regular rate for hours over forty in a workweek is a plain, simple 

violation of the FLSA. 

For these reasons, Plaintiff seeks unpaid wages, liquidated damages, 

attorney fees, and all other relief permitted. 

II. 
JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 
 1. This Court has original jurisdiction to hear this complaint and to 

adjudicate the claims stated herein under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, this action being 

brought under the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq. 

(“FLSA”).  Venue is proper because a substantial part of the events or omissions 

giving rise to the claim occurred in this District, and Defendants are subject to 

personal jurisdiction in Texas. 

III. 
PARTIES 

 
 2. Defendant, Hugo A. Rojas is a physician and employer within the meaning 

of FLSA, 29 USC § 203(d).  Defendant, Hugo A. Rojas exercised ownership and operational 

control over Plaintiff concerning her employment. 

 3. Defendant, Hugo A. Rojas, M.D., PA d/b/a is a Texas Professional 

Association and employer within the meaning of FLSA, 29 USC § 203(d).  Defendant, 

Hugo A. Rojas, M.D., PA d/b/a exercised ownership and operational control over Plaintiff 

concerning her employment.  

 4. Plaintiff Letisha Patterson is a resident of Texas and worked as a 

physician assistant for Defendants.   
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IV. 
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 
 5. During the past three years, Defendants paid Plaintiff a regular hourly 

rate for all hours worked. 

 6. Plaintiff worked for Defendants in Bexar County as a physician 

assistant. 

 7. Plaintiff is not exempt from the FLSA because she is paid on an hourly 

basis and should be compensated for appropriate overtime. 

 8.  Furthermore, physician assistants are not exempt under the 29 C.F.R. 

541.3(e) salary basis exceptions. See Belt v. EmCare, Inc., 444 F.3d 403 (5th Cir. 

2006) (Affirming Summary Judgment in favor of physician assistants who were 

paid hourly, not salary.)  

 9. During the last three years, the Plaintiff regularly worked in excess of 

forty hours in a workweek. 

 10. Plaintiff was not paid on a salary basis because physician assistants of 

Defendants were paid an hourly rate for the exact amount of hours they worked.  

 11. If Plaintiff worked less than forty hours in a week she would be paid 

only for the hours she worked that week at her regular hourly rate.   

12. Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff one-and-one-half times her regular 

rate of pay for each hour worked over forty in a workweek. 

13. Specifically, Defendants paid Plaintiff her regular rate for each hour 

worked over forty in a workweek instead of one-and-one half times her regular rate.  
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 14. These practices violate the provisions of the federal Fair Labor 

Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.  As a result of these unlawful practices, 

Plaintiff suffered a loss of wages. 

 15. Defendants showed reckless disregard for the fact that their failure to 

pay Plaintiff appropriate overtime compensation was in violation of the law.  

 16. All conditions precedent to the filing of this suit have been satisfied. 

V. 
JURY DEMAND 

 
 17. Plaintiff exercises the right to a jury. 

VI. 
PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 
 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands:  

18. Judgment against Defendants for an amount equal to Plaintiff’s 

unpaid back wages at the applicable overtime rate for each hour 

worked over forty; 

19. Judgment against Defendants that their violations of the FLSA were 

willful; 

20. An equal amount to the wage damages as liquidated damages; 

21. To the extent that liquidated damages are not awarded, an award of 

prejudgment interest; 

22. All costs incurred and reasonable attorney’s fees for prosecuting these 

claims; 
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23. Leave to add additional Plaintiffs by motion, the filing of written 

consent forms, or any other method approved by the Court; 

24. Leave to amend to add claims under applicable state laws; and 

25. For such further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED, 

 
By:_/s/ Gregory Placzek_____ 
Robert J. Wiley 
Texas Bar No. 24013750 
Board Certified Specialist, Texas Board of Legal 
Specialization, Labor and Employment Law 
Gregory A. Placzek  
Texas Bar No. 24070424 
 
LAW OFFICE OF ROB WILEY, P.C. 
1100 NW Loop 410., Suite 700 
San Antonio, Texas  78213 
Telephone:  (210) 319-4414 
Facsimile:  (210) 881-6755 
gplaczek@robwiley.com  
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
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